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INTRODUCTION  

The Supreme Court held in 2013 that a brand-name drug manufacturer’s 

“reverse payment” to a generic competitor to settle patent litigation can violate the 

antitrust laws.  FTC v. Actavis, Inc., 133 S. Ct. 2223 (2013).  And this Court held 

earlier this year that such antitrust liability can arise not only from cash payments, 

but also from non-cash consideration such as the brand-name company’s promise 

not to launch an “authorized generic” version of its drug.  King Drug Co. of 

Florence, Inc. v. Smithkline Beecham Corp., 791 F.3d 388 (2015).  This case 

involves just such a promise.  The district court nevertheless held that the 
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agreement filings annually, and it cannot possibly identify and investigate all 

settlements that merit further inquiry on the timeline of private-party litigation.  

This Court should reject reliance on FTC inaction as a basis for insulating 

pharmaceutical manufacturers from antitrust liability.2  

INTERESTS OF THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSIO N 

The Federal Trade Commission is an independent agency charged with 

promoting a competitive marketplace and protecting consumer interests.  See 15 

U.S.C. § 41 et seq.  As exemplified by the Actavis litigation, the Commission also 

exercises primary responsibility over federal antitrust enforcement in the 

pharmaceutical industry.  For more than a decade, the Commission has used its 
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The Commission has submitted amicus briefs in a number of proceedings 

concerning the legality of reverse-payment agreements,5 including a brief in the 

district court proceedings below.  Pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 29(a), the 

Commission respectfully submits this brief. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 1. Submission of Pharmaceutical Patent Settlements to the FTC 

Reverse-payment settlements arise in the context of the unique regulatory 

framework established under the Hatch-Waxman Act.  See generally King Drug, 

791 F.3d at 394-96.  As the Supreme Court held in 2013, these settlements can 

raise significant anticompetitive concerns.  See Actavis, 133 S. Ct. 2223; see also 

King Drug, 791 F.3d 388.  And for more than a dozen years before Actavis was 

decided, the FTC investigated and challenged reverse-payment settlements with 

the twin goals of obtaining relief for consumers and deterring future 

anticompetitive conduct. 

In 2002, the FTC partially resolved its first reverse-payment settlement 

challenge by entering into a consent order with defendant-appellee Wyeth (then 

called American Home Products).6  At that time, pharmaceutical companies were 

                                           
5 E.g., Brief of the Federal Trade Commission as Amicus Curiae in Support of 
Plaintiffs-Appellants, King Drug Co. of Florence, Inc. v. Smithkline Beecham 
Corp., No. 14-1243 (3d Cir. Apr. 28, 2014).   
6 Decision and Order, In re Schering-Plough Corp.,Upsher-Smith Labs., Inc., & 
Am. Home Prods. Corp., D. 9297 (FTC Apr. 2, 2002) (“Consent Order”), 
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not yet required to submit their patent settlements to the federal antitrust agencies, 

which made it difficult for the FTC to learn of potentially anticompetitive deals.  

The 2002 consent order required Wyeth to submit for FTC review certain 

prospective settlement agreements resolving pharmaceutical patent litigation.  If 

Wyeth submitted an agreement to the FTC with at least 30 days’ notice, the FTC 

did not raise an objection, and Wyeth obtained a stipulated permanent injunction, 

then Wyeth could enter the settlement without violating the consent order.  See 

Consent Order, ¶ II.  Of course, the settlement could still be unlawful under 

substantive antitrust law even if Wyeth complied with its procedural obligations 

under the consent order. 

About the same time as the Wyeth consent order, Congress became 

concerned about “abuse of the Hatch-Waxman law” resulting from “pacts between 

big pharmaceutical firms and makers of generic versions of brand name drugs, that 

are intended to keep lower-cost drugs off the market.”  S. Rep. No. 107-167 at 4 

(2002).  In 2003, Congress amended the law to require parties to file their 

                                                                                                                                        
https://www.ftc.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cases/2002/04/scheringplough_d
o.htm (cited at Op. 20 n.12).  The FTC’s administrative complaint alleged that, in 
exchange for substantial cash payments, American Home Products had unlawfully 
agreed with Schering-Plough Corporation to abandon a patent challenge and 
refrain from selling its generic version of Schering’s drug for several years.  See 
Complaint, In re Schering-Plough Corp.,Upsher-Smith Labs, Inc., & Am. Home 
Prods. Corp., D. 9297 (FTC Mar. 30, 2001), 
https://www.ftc.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cases/2001/04/scheringpart3cmp.
pdf. 
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pharmaceutical patent litigation settlements (and any related agreements) with the 

FTC and the Department of Justice.  See Medicare Prescription Drug, 

Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (“MMA”), Pub. L. No. 108-173, §§ 

1111-1118, 117 Stat. 2461-64 (codified at 21 U.S.C. § 355 note).  The MMA 

solved the government’s previous information deficit and facilitated law 

enforcement 
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notified the court hearing the patent case of the order’s requirements.  The court 

issued a scheduling order that set forth deadlines for the parties’ submission of 

their agreements to the FTC and for the FTC’s filing of objections to the 

agreements.   See Op. 20.  In response, FTC staff issued a letter to Wyeth stating 

that, given the agency’s understanding that Wyeth and Teva did not intend “to 

independently raise with the Court the competitive implications of their proposed 

settlement agreement,”7 it had decided not to object to the agreement at that time.  

See Op. 20-21 (quoting FTC 2005 staff letter to Wyeth’s counsel).  Just as 

Congress had provided in the MMA context, the FTC cautioned that its inaction 

should not be “construed as a determination that the proposed settlement 

agreement does not violate Section 5 of the FTC Act.”8  Op. 21 
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But the court 
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governmental agency receives an invitation from the Court to intercede in a matter 

by way of an Order,” the court stated, “that agency should respond appropriately, 

not simply reserve that right for the future.”  Id. at 43 (emphasis in original).  In the 

court’s view, this “lackluster response,” given “the comprehensive review 

suggested by the judiciary,” was “sufficient justification that the agreement 

between Wyeth and Teva did not constitute an unexplained payment.”  Id.  

ARGUMENT  

This brief addresses two related errors in the district court’s opinion.  First, 

the court mistakenly relied on the parties’ advance submission of their settlement 

agreement to the FTC as evidence of a lack of intent to violate the antitrust laws.  

Second, the court erroneously regarded the agency’s decision not to object at that 

time as a basis for insulating the settlement agreement from antitrust review.  Both 

errors reflect a serious misunderstanding of controlling law. 

I. WYETH ’S COMPLIANCE WITH THE FTC CONSENT ORDER CANNOT 

JUSTIFY AN ALLEGED REVERSE PAYMENT . 

As this Court has recognized, a brand-name drug manufacturer’s promise 

not to market an authorized generic “ transfers the profits the patentee would have 

made from its authorized generic to the settling generic—plus potentially more, in 

the form of higher prices, because there will now be a generic monopoly instead of 

a generic duopoly.”  King Drug, 791 F.3d at 405.  Once an antitrust plaintiff shows 

such a large transfer, “the burden then shifts to the defendant to show ‘that 
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legitimate justifications are present, thereby explaining the presence of the 

challenged term.’ ” Id. at 412 (quoting Actavis, 133 S. Ct. at 2236).    

Contrary to the district court’s ruling, Wyeth and Teva’s compliance with 

the notice requirements of the FTC’s 2002 consent order cannot negate any 

element of antitrust liability.  Although the court found that this submission 

“negated” “any alleged antitrust intent,” Op. 42, a party’s “good intention” cannot 

“save an otherwise objectionable [restraint of trade].” Chicago Bd. of Trade v. 

United States, 246 U.S. 231, 238 (1918).  The rule-of-reason inquiry “is confined 

to a consideration of impact on competitive conditions,” Nat’ l Soc’y of Prof’l 

Eng’rs v. United States, 435 U.S. 679, 690 (1978), and “good motives will not 

validate an otherwise anticompetitive practice,” NCAA v. Bd. of Regents of the 

Univ. of Okla., 468 U.S. 85, 101 n.23 (1984). 

Actavis affirms these fundamental principles.  The Court there held that the 

justification proffered by the defendants must “explain[] the presence of the 

challenged [reverse payment] term.”  133 S. Ct. at 2236.  It identified two 

justifications for reverse payments—“litigation expenses saved through the 

settlement” and “compensation for other services that the generic has promised to 

perform”—and observed that “there may be others.”  Id.  Both of the cited 

justifications explain the payment and bear directly on the competitive effects of 

the conduct.  Both demonstrate that the parties are not agreeing to maintain and 
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share patent-generated monopoly profits by eliminating the risk of competition.  

See id. at 2236-37.  

In contrast, Wyeth’s compliance with the 2002 consent order reveals nothing 

about the likely competitive effects of this agreement.  It does not “explain[] the 

presence of the challenged [reverse payment] term.” 133 S. Ct. 2236.  Nor does it 

demonstrate that Wyeth is not sharing monopoly profits with a potential rival.  In 

short, Wyeth’s compliance with the consent order cannot serve as a legitimate 

justification for the alleged reverse payment. 

II.  THE FTC’ S INACTION ON A FILED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT HAS NO 

RELEVANCE TO THE ANTITRUST ANALYSIS. 

The district court also erred in reading antitrust significance into the FTC’s 

decision not to submit objections under the consent order.  It is well established 

that government inaction does not indicate agency approval.  See, e.g., Altria 

Group, Inc. v. Good, 555 U.S. 70, 89-90 (2008).  Indeed, Congress reaffirmed that 

basic principle when it enacted the MMA in 2003, making clear that “any failure of 

the [FTC] to take action” against a filed settlement agreement “shall not at any 

time bar any proceeding or any action with respect to” any such agreement.  MMA 

§ 1117, 117 Stat. 2463.  Here, the FTC’s 2002 consent order against Wyeth 

likewise created no immunity from antitrust law for agreements falling under its 

30-day advance review provisions.  See supra pp. 3-5.  Whether review occurs 

before or after an agreement is executed, lack of action by the FTC does not serve 
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to validate the agreement or insulate it from the same antitrust principles applicable 

to all other agreements.      

It is for good reason that courts impute no legal significance to agency 

inaction.  An agency decision whether to act in a particular matter or at a particular 

time “often involves a complicated balancing” of factors:  the agency must “assess 

whether a violation has occurred,” “whether agency resources are best spent” on 

that matter, whether that particular action “best fits the agency’s overall policies, 

and indeed whether the agency has enough resources to undertake the action at 

all.”  Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821, 831 (1985).  Given those concerns, “the 

Commission alone is empowered to develop that enforcement policy best 

calculated to achieve” its statutory mission and “to allocate its available funds and 

personnel in such a way as to execute its policy efficiently and economically.”  

Moog Indus., Inc. v. FTC, 355 U.S. 411, 413 (1958) (refusing to stay an FTC order 

against one firm until competing firms could be similarly restrained). 

The decision below subverted these principles.  In effect, the district court 

took a notice mechanism designed to give the FTC information and flexibility in its 

review of Wyeth’s compliance and turned it into an escape hatch for defendants to 

evade antitrust scrutiny.  That decision is particularly indefensible given the FTC’s 

express statement in its response to Wyeth that its inaction should not be viewed as 

a determination that the settlement passed antitrust muster.  See Op. 21 (quoting 
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FTC’s 2005 letter to Wyeth’s counsel).  In short, the court erred when it treated the 

FTC’s response as justification for potentially anticompetitive behavior under 

Actavis.  

CONCLUSION 

The Court should reverse the district court’s holding that Wyeth’s 

compliance with the FTC consent order, and the FTC’s subsequent inaction, 

established that the challenged reverse payment was justified. 

Respectfully submitted, 

DEBORAH L. FEINSTEIN 
Director 

MARKUS H. MEIER 
Assistant Director 

BRADLEY S. ALBERT 
Deputy Assistant DirectorL.
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